Royal Australian and New Zealand College of

Psychiatrists

Scholarly Project

Prevalence and characteristics of women with borderline personality pathology referred to a perinatal consultation liaison service

Submission date: 28 June 2019

Word count: 4611 (excluding cover sheet with de-identification disclaimer, table of contents, headings, footnotes, tables, figures and references)

Disclaimer: As per the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists 2012 Fellowship Program Regulations, Policies and Procedures (section 9.2), all data which could potentially identify patients, their families and other individuals has been removed from this Scholarly Project to ensure confidentiality. The locations, names of hospitals, supervisors and dates of assessment have been modified and replaced with a pseudonym and marked with an asterisk (*) the first time they appear in the text.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	
Овјестиче	3
Метнод	3
RESULTS	3
CONCLUSION	4
INTRODUCTION	5
AIMS AND HYPOTHESES	12
Аімѕ	12
Нуротнеses	12
METHOD	13
Setting	13
PARTICIPANTS	13
Procedure	13
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	14
Етніся	15
RESULTS	16
Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the total sample	
Reasons for referral	
Diagnoses	17
Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of women with BPP vs. no BPP	17
Likelihood of CSS notification in current pregnancy (BPP vs. no BPP)	
DISCUSSION	20
Strengths and limitations	23
CONCLUSION	25
TABLES	26
REFERENCES	

Abstract

Objective

The aim of this study was to examine the following clinical characteristics of pregnant women referred to a perinatal consultation-liaison psychiatry service: prevalence of borderline personality pathology (defined as borderline personality disorder and borderline personality traits); whether this diagnosis was identified at time of referral; and involvement with child safety services.

Method

Over an 18-month period 318 women were referred to and seen by the perinatal consultation-liaison psychiatry service. Socio-demographic and clinical data were recorded and diagnoses (DSM-5¹) made following clinical interview and review of past history. Data were analysed using descriptive statistics and logistic regression analysis.

Results

The most common diagnoses found were depressive disorder (25.5%) and anxiety disorder (15.1%). Borderline personality disorder was found in 10.1% of women and almost one in five women had two or more borderline personality traits (19.5%). Only four women (1.3%) were referred for personality issues or aggression. When compared to women with other diagnoses, women with borderline personality pathology had higher rates of unplanned pregnancy and being unpartnered, as well as substance use during pregnancy and higher rates of child safety services

involvement as a child or in a previous pregnancy. Over 40% of women with borderline personality pathology were referred to child safety services in the current pregnancy and a diagnosis of borderline personality pathology increased the risk of child safety services involvement by almost six-fold (OR: 5.5; 95% CI 1.50-20.17).

Conclusion

The findings suggest that borderline personality pathology in the perinatal period is a common occurrence, which may be underrecognised. Socio-demographic issues, substance use and child safety services involvement, currently and in the past, were more common for women with these diagnoses, suggesting a general vulnerability and transgenerational effects of adversity. There is scope to expand on strategies of identifying these women early in the perinatal period and to offer targeted and evidence-based interventions, which may prevent negative outcomes for mothers and offspring. A more inclusive approach, involving partners and other family members may be of benefit.

Introduction

Over the past two decades, there has been increasing recognition of the importance of the perinatal period and infancy for development of neurological and psychological capacities and functioning in later life. The quality of the caregiverinfant relationship and interactions within this context, as well as presence or absence of adverse influences in utero, are critically important in determining neurological, psychological and social development and long-term mental wellbeing²⁻⁴. There is growing interest in distortions of early experiences, such as insecure or disorganised attachment, insensitive interactions, neglect and trauma, and their potential impact on development ⁵.

Attachment research is exploring a model of 'transgenerational transmission' of attachment disturbance in which parents who have experienced early adversity may develop difficulties with respect to recognising and responding to their infant's needs and are therefore at risk of repeating parenting disturbances⁶⁻⁸. This transgenerational framework has been significant in theorising about the repetition of dysfunctional relationship patterns, such as child abuse and disturbances of attachment across generations^{9 10}, and has broadened the understanding of early difficulties in parenting.

Thus it has been proposed that increased efforts should focus on identifying and working with 'high-risk' caregivers, i.e. caregivers who are likely to have more complex difficulties, such as attachment and relationship difficulties with their infant¹¹. One group identified as 'high-risk' caregivers are women with borderline personality pathology (BPP), who have frequently experienced early trauma and

disorganised attachment with resulting personality dysfunction and parenting identity disturbances, often complicated by co-morbid substance use, depression and anxiety¹²⁻¹⁴.

BPP encompasses both borderline personality disorder (BPD), a serious disturbance of personality functioning characterised by affective instability and emotional dysregulation, identity disturbance, poor impulse control and difficulties in interpersonal functioning¹, as well as subthreshold borderline personality symptoms or traits. BPD is associated with increased morbidity and mortality and there is a lifetime incidence of 70% for self-injury and 10% for suicide¹⁵. There are also high rates of psychiatric co-morbidity, distress, stigma, substance use and use of healthcare resources¹⁶⁻¹⁸. Making a diagnosis of BPD can be challenging due to the heterogeneity of the condition and concerns about appropriate thresholds¹⁶ ¹⁹. There is evidence that even subthreshold BPD features are clinically significant and that early intervention programs should have broad inclusion criteria²⁰ ²¹. Some clinicians and researchers therefore prefer a dimensional approach of conceptualising BPD²² and inclusion of sub-clinical BPD symptoms, as captured by BPP²³.

BPD affects approximately 1-4 % of the population²⁴, but the prevalence in general psychiatric populations has been estimated as high as 22%²⁵. The figures for significant borderline traits are not known. Whilst BPD is still predominantly diagnosed in females¹, epidemiological studies have found equal prevalence of BPD in men and women¹⁷. The prevalence of BPD (and subthreshold symptoms) in antenatal clinics or in groups of postnatal women is unknown²⁶, but presumably lies somewhere between the general population prevalence and that seen in psychiatric

outpatient populations. The limited studies available suggest that BPP is a common problem among women who receive psychiatric treatment in the perinatal period. For example, in a recent study examining the range of diagnoses found in 200 women who were referred to and seen by a perinatal consultation-liaison service, Judd et al found that 11.5% had BPD and a further 19.5% had two or more BPD traits²⁷. By contrast, Harvey and Pun in a study examining the prevalence of antenatal depression and other psychiatric conditions in 52 women referred with a score of \geq 12 on the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS), found only 2% of women had BPD. Of note, women were only included in the study if the EPDS score was the only reason for referral; women referred for current or past depression or other psychiatric symptoms were excluded²⁸. Similarly, in a retrospective case review Blankley et al found only 5.7% of women referred to a perinatal service had a diagnosis of BPD, but the authors suggested this may be an underrepresentation and related to only women with greater symptom severity being referred²⁹.

Studies undertaken in the postnatal period also suggest BPP is a common problem. Yelland et al assessed 117 women admitted to an Australian Mother-Baby-Unit over an 18-month period, and found rates of BPD as high as 23.1% (including principal diagnosis and co-morbid diagnosis) and a further 11.1% with BPD traits³⁰. Nair et al examined diagnoses and other characteristics of 149 women admitted to a specialist inpatient parent-infant psychiatric service, the majority of women seen in the postnatal period, and noted that 4% of women had a primary diagnosis of BPD and 15% had co-morbid BPD³¹.

Newman (2011), a key proponent of the importance of early identification of and intervention with 'high-risk' caregivers, has proposed BPD as a model of disturbed

parenting, referring to possible neurodevelopmental effects of early childhood trauma seen in adults with BPD. Affect dysregulation and deficits in socio-emotional processing have been recognised as key elements relating to parenting difficulties in these individuals³². Consistent with the proposed transgenerational transmission of attachment disturbance, Newman and colleagues explored interactional patterns between women with BPD and their infants, and found these mothers to be less sensitive in interactions with their infant when compared to controls³³. These women also tended to rate their parenting satisfaction as low and may feel incompetence and disappointment when caring for their infants. Hobson et al found that a higher proportion of women with BPD, compared with groups of women with depression or without psychopathology, showed disrupted affective communication with their infants³⁴.

Two systematic reviews have examined parenting in mothers with BPP. Eyden et al found that mothers with BPP were more likely to engage in maladaptive interactions with their children and that adverse offspring outcomes may be transmitted via maladaptive parenting and maternal emotional dysfunction²³. Petfield et al came to similar conclusions, noting high parenting stress and low parenting satisfaction in mothers with BPD, and poor outcomes for their children with regard to interpersonal relationships and cognitive-behavioural risk factors³⁵.

Studies demonstrate offspring of women with BPP may be at risk of negative outcomes across a wide range of domains throughout different developmental stages. Indeed, there are possible physical implications for mothers with BPD and their infants; these include associations with obstetric and neonatal complications, such as gestational diabetes, premature rupture of membranes, preterm birth and

low Apgar scores^{29 36}. In addition, there are associations between maternal BPD and higher prevalence of psychiatric disorders in offspring³⁷, as well as difficulties with psychosocial functioning later in life³⁸. Macfie and Swan demonstrated an impact of parental BPD on the representation of the child-caregiver relationship in the narratives of pre-school children, showing more themes of role reversal, fear of abandonment, negative relationship expectations and emotional dysregulation when compared to controls. The authors postulated that these experiences might be a risk factor for psychopathology in later life³⁹. Berg-Nielsen and Wichström examined preschool children of parents with symptoms of BPD, antisocial personality disorder or narcissistic personality disorder and concluded that even subclinical levels of parental personality disorder predicted symptoms of behavioural and emotional diagnoses in the children⁴⁰. Barnow et al found maternal BPD, as well as sub-threshold BPD symptoms, predicted offspring BPD symptoms in adolescence and early adulthood, again supporting the theory of a transgenerational transmission⁴¹.

Importantly, the difficulties experienced by offspring of women with BPP may relate not only to the emotional interactions which occur in the mother-infant relationship, but also to adverse influences in utero and following the baby's birth. These adversities include exposure to maternal substance use, maternal stress and domestic violence. In a retrospective case review, Blankley et al found women with BPD had high rates of co-morbid substance use in the perinatal period. The overall perinatal experiences of these women were also rated as more distressing than in the control group²⁹. These findings confirm that 'high-risk' caregivers experience

significant challenges, which may harbour the potential for child maltreatment in the form of neglect, rejection or physical abuse³³.

Until recently, the Australian Clinical Practice Guideline for Mental Health Care in the Perinatal Period did not include women with BPP. However, the updated guideline (2017) does include BPD⁴². Reflecting the findings regarding parenting difficulties experienced by women with BPP, the need for intensive support in the early postnatal period is emphasised. Furthermore, the guideline notes that targeted mother-infant therapy to assist women deal with emotional dysregulation may be required. It is also noted that child protection risks must be assessed and if necessary addressed⁴². Similarly, clinical guidelines for treatment of BPD now include recommendations to support parenting skills and attachment relationships²⁴, recognising the association between maternal BPD and negative offspring outcomes. Despite the recognition of the importance of assessing child protection risk, there is little data available regarding child safety services (CSS) involvement in mothers with BPP. However, the existing data indicates relatively high rates. For instance, Blankley et al found over 50% of women with BPD, who were referred to a perinatal inpatient and outpatient psychiatric service and subsequently examined in a retrospective case review study, were referred to CSS²⁹. A retrospective cohort study by O'Donnell et al found a diagnosis of personality disorder, among other psychiatric diagnoses, was a risk factor for child maltreatment allegations⁴³. In a Canadian study, Laporte and colleagues surveyed 291 caseworkers working with mothers whose children were involved with CSS and found the prevalence of maternal BPD was 34.3%. In addition, 48.9% of mothers with BPD had a history of CSS involvement in their own childhood⁴⁴. In a cohort study, Perepletchikova and colleagues examined the history

of childhood maltreatment and BPD in mothers whose children were removed from home by CSS and compared them with community controls without CSS involvement. The findings showed that 50% of mothers with CSS involvement selfreported elevated BPD features compared with only 15% of the controls. Furthermore, mothers involved with CSS scored significantly higher on measures of self-reported childhood maltreatment history than the controls⁴⁵.

This study sought to add to the existing literature regarding women with BPP in the perinatal period. Consistent with previous research, the study included both women with BPD and those with borderline traits - here summarised as BPP. The study examined the frequency of diagnosis of BPP, and the past and current involvement of pregnant women with BPP with CSS. This may provide further understanding of the transgenerational cycle of development of severe personality disturbance and ways of interrupting this.

Aims and Hypotheses

Aims

The aims of this study were:

- 1) To examine the frequency of diagnosis of BPP in antenatal referrals.
- 2) To examine how many women referred to the service, who were found to have BPP, were referred for this reason and/or currently identified.
- 3) To examine the frequency of past history of involvement with CSS in women with BPP vs. other diagnoses.
- 4) To examine the frequency of notification to CSS in the current pregnancy in women with BPP vs. other diagnoses.

Hypotheses

- 1) The rate of BPP among antenatal referrals will be greater than Australian population rates.
- 2) A known diagnosis of BPP will not be a common reason for initial referral and may not be identified at time of referral.
- Women with BPP will be more likely than other women seen by the service to have past involvement with CSS.
- Women with BPP will be more likely than other women seen by the service to be notified to CSS during the current pregnancy.

Method

Setting

This study was undertaken through the perinatal consultation-liaison psychiatry (PCLP) service of a tertiary public hospital. The hospital services a population of over 250,000 people, and within the maternity service there are approximately 2,000 deliveries per year. Women attending the maternity service are offered routine antenatal screening using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) at the antenatal booking-in visit. All women are also asked a series of questions about their psychosocial circumstances. This practice is in accordance with the current Clinical Practice Guideline for Mental Health Care in the Perinatal Period⁴².

Participants

Study participants were all women who were referred in the antenatal period and who were seen by the PCLP team over an 18 month period. Women referred to the PCLP service were: those who scored ≥13 on the EPDS, women who had a known or self-reported past history and/or current diagnosis of depression, anxiety, personality disorder or major mental illness, such as bipolar disorder or schizophrenia; and women currently prescribed psychotropic medications.

Procedure

All women were seen for assessment by the consultant psychiatrist or psychiatric registrar. The assessment included a clinical diagnostic interview and review of past psychiatric history, including previous involvement with mental health services and

whether there was any substance use prior to or during the current pregnancy. Following the initial assessment, women continued to be seen as frequently as clinically indicated.

Socio-demographic data collected included age and relationship status (partner/no partner). It was also recorded whether the pregnancy was planned or unplanned, and whether there had been any previous involvement with CSS either as a child or in previous pregnancies.

Following the clinical interview, diagnoses were made according to DSM-5¹ criteria and grouped as shown in table 1. Of note, when present, both personality disorder and clinically significant personality traits were recorded.

[Insert table 1 here]

Patient information was collected on a data form designed for the study. The data were entered into an excel database with each patient assigned a study number, and identifying information removed. Hard copies of the data were securely filed and stored, and electronic data was password protected.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to analyse the socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample, and to test hypotheses 1-3. Data processing and frequency analyses were performed using SPSS v17.0. To test hypothesis 4, a hierarchical binary logistic regression was performed, looking at the impact of various risk factors as dependent variables that together might predict notification

to CSS in the current pregnancy. Predictor variables entered initially were age, unplanned pregnancy, being unpartnered, CSS involvement as a child, CSS involvement in previous pregnancy, DSM-5 diagnosis (substance use disorder, anxiety disorder, depressive disorder and other DSM-5 diagnoses, except BPD and borderline personality traits). These predictors were entered into the equation simultaneously to determine the influence of predictor variables in the presence of other variables. BPP was entered in a second step to look at the effect of BPP adjusted for the confounding role of the other variables. The author received external assistance with the statistical analysis.

Ethics

Approval for the study was granted from the local Human Research Ethics Committee.

Results

Over the study period, 459 women were referred to the service. Of these, 318 women (69.3%) were seen for assessment, 141 (30.7%) declined the offered appointment or did not attend a scheduled appointment.

Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the total sample

Characteristics of the women involved in the study are presented in table 2. The mean age was 27.5 years with a range between 13-43. Almost two-thirds of pregnancies were unplanned (n=193; 60.7%) and a significant number of women were unpartnered (n=58; 18.2%). Substance use in pregnancy was substantial with 43 women (13.5%) describing any substance use and cannabis being the most commonly used substance (n=28; 8.8%), followed by alcohol (n=14; 4.4%). Relatively high rates of CSS notification for the current pregnancy were found (n=53; 16.7%), and 37 women (11.6%) had been involved with CSS as a child.

[Insert table 2 here]

Reasons for referral

The reasons for referral for the total sample are shown in table 3. The main reason for referral was past anxiety or depression (n=153; 48.1%), followed by an elevated EPDS score (n=117; 36.8%) and current symptoms of anxiety or depression (n=80; 25.2%). Of note, only a very small number of women were referred for personality issues or aggression (n=4; 1.3%). Frequently more than one reason was given for

referral, therefore the total number of reasons for referral was larger than the total sample size.

[Insert table 3 here]

Diagnoses

Approximately one third of women (n= 110; 34.6%) were found to have no diagnosis, a quarter of the women (n=81; 25.5%) had a depressive disorder and 48 women (15.1%) had an anxiety disorder. A substantial number of women were found to have BPD (n= 32; 10.1%), and almost one in five women had clinically significant borderline personality traits (n=62; 19.5%). These were noted in the list of diagnoses if two or more traits were present, most commonly affective instability and inappropriate intense anger. Of note was a relatively high rate of cannabis use disorder in the sample (n= 27; 8.5%). A range of other diagnoses were made and can be found in table 4. The total number of diagnoses exceeded the number of patients because comorbidity was common.

[Insert table 4 here]

Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of women with BPP vs. no BPP

Table 5 compares socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of women with BPD, borderline personality traits, BPP and no BPP in separate columns. BPP (n=94; 29.6%) is the sum of BPD and borderline personality traits. There were no major differences in age between the groups. A higher percentage of women with BPP had an unplanned pregnancy compared to women without BPP (77.7% vs. 53.6%). The rate of being unpartnered was slightly lower in the 'no BPP' group compared to the other three groups.

Women with BPP consistently had a higher percentage of substance use during pregnancy throughout all substances; the difference was particularly marked when comparing cannabis use in women with BPP to women with no BPP (21.3% vs. 3.6%). CSS involvement was more common in women with BPP. A quarter of the women with BPP had CSS involvement as a child (25.5%) versus 5.8% of women with no BPP. Almost a third of women with BPP had a CSS notification made in a previous pregnancy (31.9%) and 42.6% were notified to CSS in the current pregnancy. Women with no BPP only had a notification made in 5.8% of both cases. Women who had a diagnosis of BPD were notified to CSS in 50% of cases.

[Insert table 5 here]

Likelihood of CSS notification in current pregnancy (BPP vs. no BPP)

Results of the hierarchical binary logistic regression analysis, performed to examine the influence of identified risk factors to predict CSS notification in the current pregnancy, are displayed in table 6. After accounting for all the variables in the equation, factors that were independent predictors of CSS notification were involvement with CSS as a child, CSS notification in a previous pregnancy, substance use disorder, other DSM-5 diagnoses and BPP. BPP was responsible for an almost sixfold increase in risk of notification to CSS (OR 5.5; 95% CI 1.50-20.17). Overall the model accounted for 70.5% of the variance (Nagelkerke R²). The full model was a good fit (Hosmer & Lemeshow p=0.887).

[Insert table 6 here]

Discussion

This study sought to expand on the existing literature around BPP in the perinatal period by examining prevalence of BPP and characteristics of pregnant women referred to a PCLP service.

Approximately 30% of women referred and offered an appointment did not attend. Other studies found similar, if not higher, non-attendance rates^{28 46}. The reasons for this were not explored in this study, but socioeconomic and patient factors have been postulated²⁸. Psychiatric services offered to women in the antenatal period should be convenient to access and potential barriers to engagement need to be addressed.

Whilst it was not possible to make a direct comparison with population rates, the rate of BPD found (10.1%) was between general population rates and psychiatric outpatient rates^{24 25}. The rate of clinically significant borderline personality traits was 19.5%, therefore almost one third of women were found to have BPP. Several studies examining postnatal women referred to Mother-Baby-Units found higher rates of BPD than in this study^{30 31}, which is to be expected, as these populations would likely include a higher percentage of women with acute psychiatric illness, whereas the sample of this study was derived largely through an antenatal screening process.

Consistent with the second hypothesis, very few women were detected to have BPP after initial assessment and screening through maternity services. Consistent with these findings, Judd et al found that many women referred to a perinatal consultation liaison service after scoring above cut-off in the EPDS did not have a

depressive or anxiety disorder but BPP²⁷. Further assessment by trained clinicians is therefore required to identify women at risk.

Of note were the socio-demographic characteristics of the sample. There were high rates of unplanned pregnancy in women with BPP (77.7%), whereas the rates for women without BPP (53.6%) were closer to general population rates of approximately 50%⁴⁷.

The study also found that women with BPP had higher rates of being unpartnered, compared with other women referred to the service. These findings are not surprising, considering that problems with interpersonal relationships are a central aspect of BPP. This may make women with BPP more vulnerable to lacking emotional and social supports and may exacerbate parenting difficulties.

Substance use during pregnancy was found to be substantial in the total sample with 13.5%; again higher rates in women with BPP were noted when compared to women without BPP (30.9% vs. 6.3%), reflecting established associations between BPP and substance use¹² ¹⁶ ³¹. Interestingly, cannabis was the most commonly used substance, followed by alcohol, and 8.5% of the total sample had a diagnosis of cannabis use disorder. Women with BPP had a high rate of cannabis use during pregnancy (21.3%), which was higher than the rate of recent use in the general population (10.2%) and higher than the rate of reported illicit substance use; presumably the rates for cigarette smoking would exceed cannabis use.

As hypothesised, CSS involvement in childhood, previous pregnancies and in the current pregnancy was considerably higher in women with BPP. A quarter of women with BPP had CSS involvement in their childhood and over 40% were notified in the

current pregnancy. BPP alone increased the risk of CSS notification by almost sixfold. Several other studies showed equally high rates of CSS involvement^{29 44}. These findings underscore the impression that childhood adversity may be transmitted across generations. Although many parents who experienced childhood adversity do not become perpetrators of abuse themselves, early parental experience of maltreatment in childhood is a risk factor for CSS involvement⁴⁹ and for engaging in abusive behaviours⁴⁵. Similarly, data around parenting with BPP and effects of BPP on mother-infant interactions found significant parenting and interactional disturbances in this population³³. It is therefore understandable that women with BPP may have a higher risk of CSS involvement than women without the pathology. This study focused exclusively on the mother as the caregiver, not including fathers, partners or other family members. This was partially due to the setting being a PCLP service, reviewing women referred from a maternity outpatient clinic. More often than not, women attended alone. Impact of partners can be positive or negative they may mitigate or exacerbate risks to the child and family environment may also have an effect. Even if mothers do not directly maltreat or neglect their children, maternal BPP is associated with certain clinical and socio-demographic factors, such as high rates of unstable relationships, marital distress, domestic violence and financial disadvantage, which may impair the provision of a safe environment for the child⁵⁰.

These findings support calls for targeted and evidence-based early interventions, which ideally should begin before birth of the child, and address modifiable risk factors and difficulties this vulnerable population experiences across a wide range of domains.

Interventions that have been developed include for instance the 'Parenting with Personality Disorder' brief intervention through the Project Air Strategy Parenting Project⁵¹, as well as specialised dialectical behaviour therapy with focus on parenting and the mother-infant relationship, which has shown promising results⁵². The 'Parenting with Feeling Infant-Parent Intervention Program' focuses on early emotional interactions and specifically includes the infant as a partner in the process⁵³. The involvement of fathers, partners and families is an area that deserves further exploration, and research suggests that including and supporting families may yield promising results⁴⁷.

More prospective studies expanding on existing research are needed in order to increase understanding of possible mechanisms of transmission of adversity and interventions that may mitigate negative offspring outcomes and break the cycle of transgenerational transmission.

Strengths and limitations

In this study, there was no standardised procedure for diagnosis, for example a structured clinical interview. Different diagnostic tools can produce different prevalence of a disorder and unstructured assessments have been described as less likely to result in diagnosis of BPD⁵⁴. Another limitation was the absence of formal assessment of inter-rater reliability, therefore potentially affecting diagnoses made. However, diagnoses were made after a clinical interview was conducted and a strength of the study was that most patients were seen for more than a single assessment, which allowed ongoing review of the diagnosis. Clinicians also had access to electronic medical records and were able to review past contacts with the local mental health service. Additionally, patients were discussed in regular clinical

multidisciplinary review meetings. The study population, whilst being a real-life sample, was a convenience sample potentially affecting generalisability of results to the wider population.

Conclusion

The findings of this study suggest that perinatal BPP is fairly common and possibly underrecognised in certain populations. Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of antenatal women with BPP indicate vulnerabilities, such as having an unplanned pregnancy, being unpartnered and having high rates of substance use. Additionally, these women also tend to have high rates of CSS involvement as a child, in previous pregnancies and a higher risk of being notified to CSS in their current pregnancy. These findings underpin the existing model of transgenerational transmission of adversity. Future studies should include partners and focus on evaluation of early interventions.

Tables

Table 1. Diagnosis groups

Depressive disorder	
Major depressive disorder Persistent depressive disorder	Adjustment disorder - with depressed mood - with mixed anxiety & depressed mood
Anxiety disorder	
Social phobia Panic disorder Agoraphobia	Generalised anxiety disorder Adjustment disorder with anxiety
Personality disorder	
Borderline Narcissistic	Antisocial Other
Personality traits	
Borderline Dependent	Antisocial Other
Substance use disorder	
Alcohol Cannabis Opiates	Amphetamines Benzodiazepines
Other	
Schizophrenia Bipolar disorder Obsessive compulsive disorder Eating disorder	Acute stress disorder Post-traumatic stress disorder Intellectual disability

Table 2. Sample characteristics

Total	Sample	n = 318
-------	--------	---------

Mean Age (SD)	27.5 (6.2)
Age Range - years	13-43
Unplanned pregnancy - number (%)	193 (60.7%)
Unpartnered - number (%)	58 (18.2%)
Substance use in pregnancy - number (%) ANY Alcohol Cannabis Amphetamines Opiates	43 (13.5%) 14 (4.4%) 28 (8.8%) 7 (2.2%) 4 (1.3%)
CSS involvement - number (%) As child In previous pregnancy Notification made this pregnancy	37 (11.6%) 43 (13.5%) 53 (16.7%)

Table 3. Reason for referral

Total Sample n = 318	number (%)
Elevated EPDS	117 (36.8%)
Current symptoms of anxiety or depression	80 (25.2%)
Past anxiety or depression	153 (48.1%)
Self-harm risk or suicide risk	9 (2.8%)
"Known"* diagnosis of bipolar disorder or schizophrenia or psychosis	24 (7.5%)
Substance use	21 (6.6%)
Personality issues or aggression	4 (1.3%)
Parenting issues or CSS issues	7 (2.2%)
Advice with management plan	13 (4.1%)
Social issues	24 (7.5%)

* "known" = patient self-report of diagnosis

Table 4. Diagnoses

Total Sample n = 318	number (%)
No diagnosis	110 (34.6%)
Depressive disorder	81 (25.5%)
Anxiety disorder	48 (15.1%)
Personality disorder	
Borderline	32 (10.1%)
Antisocial	3 (0.9%)
Narcissistic	1 (0.3%)
Other	0 (0%)
Personality traits	
Borderline	62 (19.5%)
Antisocial	8 (2.5%)
Dependent	2 (0.6%)
Other	23 (7.2%)
Substance use disorder	
Alcohol use disorder	4 (1.3%)
Cannabis use disorder	27 (8.5%)
Amphetamine use disorder	8 (2.5%)
Opiate use disorder	5 (1.6%)
Benzodiazepine use disorder	1 (0.3%)
Other	
Schizophrenia	4 (1.3%)
Bipolar disorder	3 (0.9%)
Obsessive compulsive disorder	7 (2.2%)
Eating disorder	5 (1.6%)
Acute stress disorder	3 (0.9%)
Post-traumatic stress disorder	3 (0.9%)
Intellectual disability	7 (2.2%)

	Borderline Personality Disorder n = 32	Borderline Personality Traits n = 62	Borderline Personality Pathology n = 94	No Borderline Personality Pathology n = 224
Mean Age (SD)	26.8 (6.3)	26.2 (6.6)	26.4 (6.5)	27.9 (6.1)
Age Range - years	16-39	13-40	13-40	14-43
Unplanned pregnancy - number (%)	28 (87.5%)	45 (72.6%)	73 (77.7%)	120 (53.6%)
Unpartnered - number (%)	6 (18.8%)	16 (25.8%)	22 (23.4%)	36 (16.1%)
Substance use in pregnancy - number (%)				
ANY	9 (28.1%)	20 (32.3%)	29 (30.9%)	14 (6.3%)
Alcohol	2 (6.3%)	7 (11.3%)	9 (9.6%)	5 (2.2%)
Cannabis	8 (25.0%)	12 (19.4%)	20 (21.3%)	8 (3.6%)
Amphetamines	2 (6.3%)	3 (4.8%)	5 (5.3%)	2 (0.9%)
Opiates	1 (3.1%)	3 (4.8%)	4 (4.3%)	0 (0.0%)
CSS involvement - number (%)				
As child	12 (37.5%)	12 (19.4%)	24 (25.5%)	13 (5.8%)
In previous pregnancy	13 (40.6%)	17 (27.4%)	30 (31.9%)	13 (5.8%)
Notification made this pregnancy	16 (50.0%)	24 (38.7%)	40 (42.6%)	13 (5.8%)

Variable	Model 1			Model 2				
	B(SE)	Wald	Odds Ratio	95% CI	B(SE)	Wald	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Constant	-3.59(1.35)	7.03	0.03 *		-4.46(1.46)	9.26	0.01 **	
Age	-0.03(0.04)	0.53	0.97	0.90-1.05	-0.03(0.04)	0.61	0.97	0.89-1.05
Unplanned	1.08(0.67)	2.61	2.96	0.79-11.03	0.89(0.68)	1.71	2.44	0.64-9.31
Unpartnered	1.22(0.57)	4.58	3.40 *	1.11-10.44	1.09(0.59)	3.43	2.97	0.94-9.41
CSS as child	2.54(0.62)	16.95	12.63 ***	3.78-42.23	2.36(0.63)	13.93	10.56 ***	3.06-36.42
CSS previous pregnancy	2.44(0.59)	17.29	11.43 ***	3.63-36.02	2.45(0.62)	15.65	11.64 ***	3.45-39.25
Substance use disorder	3.48(0.64)	30.03	32.45 ***	9.35-112.68	3.40(0.67)	26.10	30.02 ***	8.14-110.71
Anxiety disorder	-1.61(0.98)	2.71	0.20	0.03-1.36	-0.57(1.13)	0.26	0.57	0.06-5.13
Depressive disorder	-1.83(0.83)	4.90	0.16 *	0.03-0.81	-1.43(0.91)	2.46	0.24	0.04-1.43
Other DSM-5	0.63(0.70)	0.82	1.88	0.48-7.42	1.81(0.89)	4.18	6.11 *	1.08-34.65
Borderline personality path.					1.71(0.66)	6.63	5.50 **	1.50-20.17
Model Chi squared (DF)	165.08 (9) ***				172.58 (10) **	*		
Block Chi squared (DF)					7.50 (1) *			
Hosmer & Lemeshow (DF)	2.94 (8), p=0.938			3.66 (8), p=0.887				
Nagelkerke R ²	0.682				0.705			
Cox & Snell R ²	0.405				0.419			
-2 Log likelihood	121.48				113.98			

* p<0.05; ** p<0.005; *** p<0.0005

References

- 1. American Psychiatric Association., American Psychiatric Association. DSM-5 Task Force. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders : DSM-5. 5th ed. Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association 2013.
- 2. Schore AN. The experience-dependent maturation of a regulatory system in the orbital prefrontal cortex and the origin of developmental psychopathology. *Dev Psychopathol* 1996;8(1):59-87. doi: 10.1017/S0954579400006970
- Newman L, Judd F, Olsson CA, et al. Early origins of mental disorder risk factors in the perinatal and infant period. *BMC Psychiatry* 2016;16:270. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-0982-7 [published Online First: 2016/07/31]
- Dvir Y, Ford JD, Hill M, et al. Childhood maltreatment, emotional dysregulation, and psychiatric comorbidities. *Harv Rev Psychiatry* 2014;22(3):149-61. doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000014 [published Online First: 2014/04/08]
- 5. Lyons-Ruth K, Alpern L, Repacholi B. Disorganized infant attachment classification and maternal psychosocial problems as predictors of hostile-aggressive behavior in the preschool classroom. *Child Dev* 1993;64(2):572-85. [published Online First: 1993/04/01]
- Newman L, Stevenson C. Issues in infant--parent psychotherapy for mothers with borderline personality disorder. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry* 2008;13(4):505-14. doi: 10.1177/1359104508096766 [published Online First: 2008/10/18]
- Newman LS, C. Parenting and borderline personality disorder: ghosts in the nursery. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 2005;10(3):385-94. doi: 10.1177/1359104505053756
- Holmes J. Ghosts in the consulting room. An attachment perspective on intergenerational transmission. *Attach Hum Dev* 1999;1(1):115-31. doi: 10.1080/14616739900134051 [published Online First: 2001/11/16]
- Berthelot N, Ensink K, Bernazzani O, et al. Intergenerational transmission of attachment in abused and neglected mothers: the role of trauma-specific reflective functioning. *Infant Ment Health J* 2015;36(2):200-12. doi: 10.1002/imhj.21499 [published Online First: 2015/02/20]
- Newcomb MD, Locke TF. Intergenerational cycle of maltreatment: a popular concept obscured by methodological limitations. *Child Abuse Negl* 2001;25(9):1219-40. [published Online First: 2001/11/10]
- Judd F, Newman LK, Komiti AA. Time for a new zeitgeist in perinatal mental health. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2018;52(2):112-16. doi: 10.1177/0004867417741553 [published Online First: 2017/11/17]
- Tomko RL, Trull TJ, Wood PK, et al. Characteristics of borderline personality disorder in a community sample: comorbidity, treatment utilization, and general functioning. J Pers Disord 2014;28(5):734-50. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2012_26_093 [published Online First: 2014/09/24]
- Zanarini MC. Childhood experiences associated with the development of borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatr Clin North Am* 2000;23(1):89-101. [published Online First: 2000/03/24]
- 14. Chlebowski SM. The borderline mother and her child: a couple at risk. Am JPsychother2013;67(2):153-64.doi:

10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2013.67.2.153 [published Online First: 2013/08/06]

- Black DW, Blum N, Pfohl B, et al. Suicidal behavior in borderline personality disorder: prevalence, risk factors, prediction, and prevention. *J Pers Disord* 2004;18(3):226-39. doi: 10.1521/pedi.18.3.226.35445 [published Online First: 2004/07/09]
- Leichsenring F, Leibing E, Kruse J, et al. Borderline personality disorder. Lancet 2011;377(9759):74-84. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61422-5 [published Online First: 2011/01/05]
- Grant BF, Chou SP, Goldstein RB, et al. Prevalence, correlates, disability, and comorbidity of DSM-IV borderline personality disorder: results from the Wave 2 National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. J Clin Psychiatry 2008;69(4):533-45. [published Online First: 2008/04/23]
- Shah R, Zanarini MC. Comorbidity of Borderline Personality Disorder: Current Status and Future Directions. *Psychiatr Clin North Am* 2018;41(4):583-93. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2018.07.009 [published Online First: 2018/11/19]
- 19. Widiger TA. Categorical versus dimensional classification: implications from and for research. *Journal of Personality Disorders* 1992;6(4):287-300.
- Zimmerman M, Chelminski I, Young D, et al. Does the presence of one feature of borderline personality disorder have clinical significance? Implications for dimensional ratings of personality disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 2012;73(1):8-12. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10m06784 [published Online First: 2011/11/08]
- Chanen AM, McCutcheon L. Prevention and early intervention for borderline personality disorder: current status and recent evidence. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl* 2013;54:s24-9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.119180 [published Online First: 2013/01/11]
- Trull TJ, Widiger TA, Guthrie P. Categorical versus dimensional status of borderline personality disorder. J Abnorm Psychol 1990;99(1):40-8. [published Online First: 1990/02/01]
- Eyden J, Winsper C, Wolke D, et al. A systematic review of the parenting and outcomes experienced by offspring of mothers with borderline personality pathology: Potential mechanisms and clinical implications. *Clin Psychol Rev* 2016;47:85-105. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.04.002 [published Online First: 2016/06/05]
- 24. National Health and Medical Research Council. Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Borderline Personality Disorder. Melbourne: National Health and Medical Research Council, 2012.
- Korzekwa MI, Dell PF, Links PS, et al. Estimating the prevalence of borderline personality disorder in psychiatric outpatients using a two-phase procedure. *Compr Psychiatry* 2008;49(4):380-6. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2008.01.007 [published Online First: 2008/06/17]
- 26. Sved Williams A. Perinatal and infant mental health: Further fruitful twists of Rubik's cube. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2018;52(4):313-15. doi: 10.1177/0004867418760199 [published Online First: 2018/03/03]
- 27. Judd F, Lorimer S, Thomson RH, et al. Screening for depression with the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale and finding borderline personality

disorder. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 2019;53(5):424-32. doi: 10.1177/0004867418804067 [published Online First: 2018/10/13]

- Harvey ST, Pun PK. Analysis of positive Edinburgh depression scale referrals to a consultation liaison psychiatry service in a two-year period. *Int J Ment Health Nurs* 2007;16(3):161-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0349.2007.00463.x [published Online First: 2007/05/31]
- 29. Blankley G, Galbally M, Snellen M, et al. Borderline Personality Disorder in the perinatal period: early infant and maternal outcomes. *Australas Psychiatry* 2015;23(6):688-92. doi: 10.1177/1039856215590254 [published Online First: 2015/07/03]
- Yelland C, Girke T, Tottman C, et al. Clinical characteristics and mental health outcomes for women admitted to an Australian Mother-Baby Unit: a focus on borderline personality disorder and emotional dysregulation? *Australas Psychiatry* 2015;23(6):683-7. doi: 10.1177/1039856215590251 [published Online First: 2015/06/14]
- Nair R, Bilszta J, Shafira N, et al. Review of patients admitted to a specialist inpatient parent-infant psychiatric service. *Australas Psychiatry* 2010;18(6):567-72. doi: 10.3109/10398562.2010.525641 [published Online First: 2010/12/02]
- 32. Newman LK, Harris M, Allen J. Neurobiological basis of parenting disturbance. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 2011;45(2):109-22. doi: 10.3109/00048674.2010.527821 [published Online First: 2010/10/28]
- Newman LK, Stevenson CS, Bergman LR, et al. Borderline personality disorder, mother-infant interaction and parenting perceptions: preliminary findings. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 2007;41(7):598-605. doi: 10.1080/00048670701392833
 [published Online First: 2007/06/15]
- Hobson RP, Patrick MP, Hobson JA, et al. How mothers with borderline personality disorder relate to their year-old infants. Br J Psychiatry 2009;195(4):325-30. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108.060624 [published Online First: 2009/10/02]
- Petfield L, Startup H, Droscher H, et al. Parenting in mothers with borderline personality disorder and impact on child outcomes. *Evid Based Ment Health* 2015;18(3):67-75. doi: 10.1136/eb-2015-102163 [published Online First: 2015/07/25]
- Pare-Miron V, Czuzoj-Shulman N, Oddy L, et al. Effect of Borderline Personality Disorder on Obstetrical and Neonatal Outcomes. Womens Health Issues 2016;26(2):190-5. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2015.11.001 [published Online First: 2016/01/01]
- Weiss M, Zelkowitz P, Feldman RB, et al. Psychopathology in offspring of mothers with borderline personality disorder: a pilot study. *Can J Psychiatry* 1996;41(5):285-90. doi: 10.1177/070674379604100505 [published Online First: 1996/06/01]
- Herr NR, Hammen C, Brennan PA. Maternal borderline personality disorder symptoms and adolescent psychosocial functioning. J Pers Disord 2008;22(5):451-65. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2008.22.5.451 [published Online First: 2008/10/07]

- 39. Macfie J, Swan SA. Representations of the caregiver-child relationship and of the self, and emotion regulation in the narratives of young children whose mothers have borderline personality disorder. *Dev Psychopathol* 2009;21(3):993-1011. doi: 10.1017/S0954579409000534 [published Online First: 2009/07/09]
- 40. Berg-Nielsen TS, Wichstrom L. The mental health of preschoolers in a Norwegian population-based study when their parents have symptoms of borderline, antisocial, and narcissistic personality disorders: at the mercy of unpredictability. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health* 2012;6(1):19. doi: 10.1186/1753-2000-6-19 [published Online First: 2012/05/23]
- Barnow S, Aldinger M, Arens EA, et al. Maternal transmission of borderline personality disorder symptoms in the community-based Greifswald Family Study. J Pers Disord 2013;27(6):806-19. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2012_26_058 [published Online First: 2012/08/30]
- 42. Austin M-P, Highet N and the Expert Working Group (2017) Mental Health Care in the Perinatal Period: Australian Clinical Practice Guideline. Melbourne: Centre of Perinatal Excellence, 2017.
- 43. O'Donnell M, Maclean MJ, Sims S, et al. Maternal mental health and risk of child protection involvement: mental health diagnoses associated with increased risk. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2015;69(12):1175-83. doi: 10.1136/jech-2014-205240 [published Online First: 2015/09/16]
- Laporte L, Paris J, Zelkowitz P. Estimating the prevalence of borderline personality disorder in mothers involved in youth protection services. *Personal Ment Health* 2018;12(1):49-58. doi: 10.1002/pmh.1398 [published Online First: 2017/09/26]
- Perepletchikova F, Ansell E, Axelrod S. Borderline personality disorder features and history of childhood maltreatment in mothers involved with child protective services. *Child Maltreat* 2012;17(2):182-90. doi: 10.1177/1077559512448471 [published Online First: 2012/05/18]
- 46. Albaugh AS, Friedman SH, Yang SN, et al. Attendance at Mental Health Appointments by Women Who Were Referred During Pregnancy or the Postpartum Period. *J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs* 2018;47(1):3-11. doi: 10.1016/j.jogn.2017.11.001 [published Online First: 2017/11/28]
- 47. Sved Williams A. What's new in perinatal psychiatry? *Australas Psychiatry* 2019;27(2):109-10. doi: 10.1177/1039856219833838 [published Online First: 2019/04/18]
- 48. Department of Health Clinical Practice Guidelines: Pregnancy Care. Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health, 2019.
- 49. Westad C, McConnell D. Child welfare involvement of mothers with mental health issues. *Community Ment Health J* 2012;48(1):29-37. doi: 10.1007/s10597-011-9374-0 [published Online First: 2011/01/19]
- 50. Adshead G. Parenting and personality disorder: clinical and child protection implications. BJPsych Advances 2015;21:15-22. doi: 10.1192/apt.bp.113.011627
- 51. McCarthy KL, Lewis KL, Bourke ME, et al. A new intervention for people with borderline personality disorder who are also parents: a pilot study of clinician

acceptability. *Borderline Personal Disord Emot Dysregul* 2016;3(1):10. doi: 10.1186/s40479-016-0044-2 [published Online First: 2016/09/13]

- 52. Sved Williams AE, Yelland C, Hollamby S, et al. A New Therapeutic Group To Help Women With Borderline Personality Disorder and Their Infants. J Psychiatr Pract 2018;24(5):331-40. doi: 10.1097/PRA.00000000000330 [published Online First: 2018/11/15]
- 53. Newman L. Parents with Borderline Personality Disorder approaches to early intervention. *Australas Psychiatry* 2015;23(6):696-8. doi: 10.1177/1039856215614988 [published Online First: 2015/11/06]
- 54. Zimmerman M, Mattia JI. Differences between clinical and research practices in diagnosing borderline personality disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1999;156(10):1570-4. doi: 10.1176/ajp.156.10.1570 [published Online First: 1999/10/13]